IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HERMAN LINDSEY,)	
Appellant,)	
)	CAGE NO. 9007 1107
VS.)	CASE NO. SC07-1167
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
Appellee.)	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court Of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit In and For Broward County, Florida [Criminal Division]

CAREY HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit

Jeffrey L. Anderson Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407 Criminal Justice Building 421 3RD Street/6TH Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

- "R" will denote the Record on Appeal which is contained in volumes 1 through 3 and contains 457 pages the pages numbered consecutively 1-457.
- "T" will denote the transcript pages contained in volumes 1-31 and contains 2541 pages- the pages are numbered 1-2541.
- "SR" will denote the supplemental records which has 10 volumes of transcript with 218 pages the pages are numbered consecutively 1-218.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 8, 2006, Appellant was charged with murder in the first degree and robbery R2-4. The offenses were alleged to have occurred on April 19, 1994 R2. Appellant moved to dismiss the charges on the basis the delayed charges violated due process R195-196. Appellant's motion was denied R208.

A jury trial commenced on September 19, 2006 R227. At the close of the state's case, and at the close of evidence, Appellant moved for judgment of acquittal T1708-09, 1740-41. The motions were denied T1725, 1743. The robbery charge (count II) was nol prossed T1973.

Appellant was found guilty of murder in the first degree T1953, R374. The jury recommended death by an 8-4 vote T2145. Appellant moved for new trial R345-49, T. The motion was denied R362-67.

On June 19, 2007, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death R380-395. A notice of appeal was filed R369. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Dr. Joshua Perper testified he is the chief medical examiner for Broward County T1162. Dr. Perper reviewed the autopsy records of Joanne Mazollo T1163, 1166. The autopsy was performed on April 20, 1994 T1166. The case was very straightforward and clear cut T1165. The cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head T1166. Nothing else could contribute to the death T1167. There was soot around the edges of the wound T1172. The soot indicates that the bullet was fired at a range of less than 6 inches T1172. Death was instantaneous T1173.

Officer Kermit Bougher of the Ft. Lauderdale police department testified that at 11:20 a.m. on April 19, 1994, he was dispatched to the scene of a shooting T1175-76. The scene was a pawn shop which had a set of double doors T1177. Behind the counter was an expired female T1179. The area was in disarray with pawn slips all over the floor T1179. Things were out of the shelves and the cash register was opened T1179.

Gerald Singer testified he owned two pawn shops in 1994 T1181. They were both on 17th West Sunrise Boulevard T1181. They were named "Big Dollar Pawn" and "Mo Money" T1181. Joanne Mazollo worked at Big Dollar Pawn T11872. On April 19, 1994, Singer called Big Dollar pawn but there was no answer T1185. Singer went to Big Dollar Pawn T1185. The front door, as always, was locked T1185, Singer unlocked the door and went inside T1185.

Singer testified he saw merchandise on the floor and noticed the cash drawer was empty T1185-1186. Singer went to the back room where he found Mazollo T1186. Mazollo was sitting in a lounge chair tilted over to the side T1186. She had been shot to the head and her eye was hanging out of her head T1186. She was dead T1186.

Singer testified he kept jewelry and guns in a display case T1190. Five to seven firearms were stolen from the storeT1192. There was a safe in the back of the store T1193. The safe contained less than 50 envelopes of gold coins T1195. There was also a blue velvet bag with gold draw strings that was marked Crown Royale T1195. The bag contained jewelry T1195-1196. Singer has a description of the jewelry on pawn slips T1205. Singer did not tell police about the velvet bag T1206. Months before the shooting Singer had fired another employee, Dave Taylor, who indicated he would not stay if Mazolla stayed T1202.

Alfonzer Harrold testified in 1994 he was 15 years old T1211. Harrold's friend Nikki was married to Appellant T1211. Harold went to the Big Dollar Pawn Shop with Appellant and Ronnie LoRay T1213, 1215. The pawn shop was off Sunrise and 13th Avenue T1213. They went to the pawn shop to get rid of something and to buy something T1215. There was an older lady in the store T1215. Appellant and Loray looked around to buy something T1216. A man came from the back T1216. Five or ten minutes later Appellant, LoRay, and Harrold left T1216. Harrold testified that

Ronnie LoRay came to his house the next night T1216. Harrold thought Appellant was in the car but was not sure T1217. Harrold did not speak with Appellant T1217. Harrold acknowledged that in 1995 he told police that he spoke with Appellant T1217-19. When Harrold spoke with LoRay, Appellant was not present T1219. LoRay had a circular bracelet with a marijuana leaf on it T1219. Later Harrold called police because a \$1000 reward was being offered T1220.

Demeatrous Gause, a.k.a. Nikki, was previously married to Appellant and they lived in an apartment together T1226-27. Nikki testified that in 1994 she went to the Big Dollar pawn shop with Ronnie Loray and Appellant T1228. They had previously been to another pawn shop but it did not have what they were looking for T1228. They were looking for stereo equipment T1228. Nikki was busy looking at jewelry T1229. The lady at the store appeared to know Appellant T1230. Days later Nikki was watching the noon news with Appellant T1232. Appellant asked Nikki to turn up the volume T1232. The lady had been killed T12361. When Nikki had woken up earlier that day she did not see Appellant in the house but he could have been downstairs T1232, 1248. Nikki would some point later find a Crown Royale bag with jewelry in the closet T1235. Nikki admits making different prior statements about the

¹ Because Gause is more commonly known as Nikki, Appellant will refer to her as Nikki throughout this brief.

bag of jewelry T1236, 1244-45.² Nikki eventually called crime stoppers because she needed money and thought she could get \$1000 T1243. Nikki testified the first time she mentioned a Crown Royale bag was in 2005 T1259. Nikki called crime stoppers because she needed money and thought she could get \$1000 T1243.

Crime scene investigator, Carol Coval, testified that 45 prints were taken from the crime scene T 1336. One print was taken off a stun gun box T1339.

Alice Benitez, of the latent print unit, testified that she was given 41 latents of value T1349. Benitez compared the prints to Donald Byrd, Mark Dormius, Jamie Roman, Ronnie Loray, and Appellant T1350. Another examiner may have compared them to Mark Simms T1351. LoRay was identified to the latent from a stun gun box T1352. No prints belonged to Appellant T1352, 1357. No prints belonged to Mark Simms T1352-53. A print on a pawn slip belonged to Appellant T1358. Benitez does not know where the pawn slip came from T1359.

Mark Simms testified he has been in federal custody for 12 years T1385. Simms was arrested on May 20, 1994 T1387. Simms met Appellant in a holding cell

² Nikki's prior statements were that she saw Appellant and LoRay with jewelry and the jewelry was later sold at a flea market T1236, 1244-45. The prosecutor questioned Nikki about the prior statement for purposes of impeachment T 1559-62.

T1388. Appellant struck up a conversation with Appellant T1388. Appellant told Simms not to worry about his charges T1389.

Simms testified he saw Appellant a few days later - this time in the Pompano Detention Center T1389. Simms talked with Appellant because it was a "macho thing" and he needed someone to talk to T1392. Simms talked about a robbery he committed with Walter Eady in which someone got shot T1391. Simms was annoyed because the people he robbed saw his face T1393. Appellant said Simms should have killed them T1393. Appellant said he would have killed the person that got shot in Simms' case T1393-94. Appellant then said, "I had to kill someone" T1394. Simms had no idea what Appellant was talking about T1394.

Simms testified he later found out Appellant had used information that Simms had given him T1395. Seven months after the conversation with Appellant Simms was placed in custody with Ronnie LoRay T1397. LoRay told Simms that police were implicating Simms and LoRay in a murder T1403. Simms told LoRay to straighten it out because he had nothing to do with the murder T1403. LoRay did not indicate he was going to take care of it T1403. Simms called his lawyer T1404. Simms testified he was going to use the information he obtained from Appellant to help him with his sentence T1407. Simms motive for testifying was the hope the prosecutor would help him T1408-09.

Jack King testified he used to work for the Ft. Lauderdale Police Department T1433. King interviewed Gerald Singer as to what things had been stolen from the pawn shop T1475. This included a 10 page statement T1475. Singer never mentioned a Crown Royale bag T1475. King interviewed Appellant at least 18 months after the crime T1435. The tape of that interview was played to the jury T1444-1470.

In the statement Appellant indicated that one day in April after 2:00 Ronnie LoRay came to Appellant's house and was very upset T1451. LoRay said he was involved in a robbery and he heard a shot but didn't know if the person was dead T1451. LoRay said they didn't have to shoot the woman T1452. LoRay did not say who shot the woman T1453. LoRay said he touched items T1454. LoRay had jewelry and a couple hundred dollars T1458.

Appellant's statement indicated he had been in the store before and had pawned a sega under the name David Ashley T1454. Appellant had signed a pawn slip T1455.

Appellant was not surprised LoRay did the robbery because LoRay was have known to do robberies T1466. Appellant stated he did not do robberies and he did not carry weapons T1460. Appellant stated that he didn't do robberies with LoRay T1457. Appellant might help him find a place to go with the stuff T1457.

A number of phone calls of Appellant from jail were recorded and played to the jury. In the phone conversation Appellant indicated a detective talked to him and said they had Ronnie's fingerprints and Ronnie was trying to work out a deal with the state

against Appellant T1669, 1671. Appellant didn't know anything T1672. Appellant was worried Ronnie was thinking Appellant would betray him T1672. Appellant said people kept coming to him and Appellant would tell them he had nothing to do with it T1673. Appellant said they didn't have a case on him but were trying to get Appellant to help with Ronnie T16765. Appellant indicated he was not going to do that T1676. Appellant indicated that he didn't do it and he wasn't there T1677. Appellant stated that they were playing games on him T1680. Appellant didn't know Ronnie's position and needed to find out T1680. Appellant said they wanted Ronnie to say Appellant was with him and they wanted Appellant to say Ronnie did it T1682. Appellant indicated that he could not say these things because he was not there T1682. Appellant was concerned that they were threatening people to say things T1683.

Appellant indicated that someone [police] came to see him but he was not worried because he did not do it T1626. Appellant indicated that he was supposed to be released shortly but they say Nikki was trying to testify on something Appellant had nothing to do with and they might lock him up for that T1630. Appellant said that he and Nikki were home and had nothing to do with it T1633-34. Appellant thinks that Nikki is lying on him and that is why police want to lock him up T1635. Police told Appellant that they had talked with Nikki T1635. Appellant said that police were trying to get Nikki to lie T1636-37. Appellant said that there was a detainer on him and he would be picked up by someone from Broward County T1648. Appellant was

not worried because he didn't do anything T1648. Also, what Nikki says can't be used against Appellant anyway because of the marital privilege rule T1649. Appellant said they were trying to use Nikki against him but he doesn't think Nikki is going against him T1658. They used Nikki to get a warrant against him T1658-59. Alfonzo is also lying T1659. Appellant wants to find out what is up with Nikki T1658-59. Appellant wants Nikki on a vacation so he doesn't have to worry about her T1660. Appellant thought Nikki had said things against Appellant because she was mad at him T1691.

PENALTY PHASE

Stephen Cadore testified that in 1988 he worked at a Circle K store T2119. Two men entered the store T2119. One pointed an antique gun at Cadore and asked for money T2119. Cadore gave him money but the second man wanted more T2119. The second man started struggling with the first and the gun went off T2119. Cadore could not identify anyone T2119.

Dr. Micahel Brannon, a licensed psychologist, testified Appellant's parents were divorced when Appellant was 5 T2143. There was a lot of domestic violence between Appellant's parents T2143. Appellant saw his father burn his mother with hot grease T2143. Appellant remained with his mother T2143. Appellant suffered physical abuse from his mother and grandfather T2143. Appellant's father is in prison T2149. Appellant never had a good relationship with his father T2149. Appellant came from a dysfunctional family and had to do everything to take care of himself T2150.

Appellant is not a psychopath T2152. Appellant had no negative disciplinary reports T2153. Appellant received a high school equivalency diploma while in prison T2270. Appellant also received merit time for quickly reporting another's seizure T2270.

Dr. Lynne Rich is a licensed psychologist and a clinical neuropsychologist T2279. Rich conducted a neuropsychological evaluation of Appellant t2282. Testing showed Appellant had a subnormal use of hands and had some kind of problem in his brain T2284. There were also problems with speech production on demand T2286. Appellant had below a 6th grade achievement level T2286. There was evidence of problems with visual awareness and visual memory T2287. There is a breakdown of comprehension when Appellant takes in a lot of things or things that get complicated T2288. Three times in Appellant's life he suffered loss of consciousness T2290. The loss of memory at ages 9, 15 and 17 was very likely due to brain injuries from beatings as a child T2290. Rich wondered if Appellant was exposed to cocaine while in his mother's womb T2290. Appellant's father tried to get him to use cocaine at the age of 12 T2290. Cross-testing showed no signs that Appellant was malingering T2289.

Appellant's grand aunt, Dorothy Thompson, testified Appellant was a very kind, generous young man who would come by and check on her T2160. Appellant was very nurturing and protective T2160.

Ronald Durham testified that Appellant is his stepson T2162. Appellant had to leave school when his child was born because he felt an obligation to take care of the child T2163.

Helena Thornton testified she had a child with Appellant - S.L.- who is now 17 years old T2172. Appellant is a good person and had a good relationship with his daughter T2173. Appellant still contacts her and she writes him T2174. Appellant's father abused drugs T2172.

S.L. testified that Appellant is her father T2176. Appellant is good to her T2176. They write to each other T2176-77. Appellant had matured and focuses more on his children T2177.

Mecka Ervin testified she met Appellant in 1992 and lived with him for 6 months T2179. Appellant treated her very well T2180. Appellant and Ervin had a child - M.L. T2181. M.L. is 11years old T2181. M.L. and Appellant write to each other T2181. Appellant is a good father T2181.

M.L. testified he is 11 years old and Appellant is his father T2182-83. M.L. visits Appellant and wants to continue to visit him T2183. They also write to each other T2183.

Francis McLamore testified Appellant is her grandson T2185. Appellant is good to her and would do things for her T2186. Appellant would correct the children if they did something wrong T2186.

Joyce Hamilton, Appellant's aunt, testified Appellant had always been loving and respectful T2188.

Camela Lindsey testified that Appellant is her big brother T2190. Appellant was a good brother who made sure she did not get into any trouble T2191. Among things Appellant did was to take care of a handicapped child T2191-92.

Appellant's great aunt, Audrey Canion, testified Appellant is a loving person who would be there if she or her husband needed him T2193-94. Appellant was also excellent to the kids T2194.

Curtis Fox testified that on September 27, 2006, he was in a holding cell with Appellant and Mark Simms T2198. As Simms was called to court he said to Appellant, "Do you remember me? I got you. Yeah, you remember me" and walked out T2199. After Appellant left the cell, Simms came back T2199. Others accused Simms of informing on Appellant T2199. Simms replied, "Fuck that nigger, you got to do what you got to do to free yourself" T2199. It was like Simms had something against Appellant T2202.

Eddie Carter testified that he was in the Broward County jail in 1994 T2206. Carter does not remember giving a statement to detective King T2206. Appellant and the prosecution stipulated that King took a statement from Carter on July 14, 1994, and the statement contained the following information T2217, 2223. Carter was under oath and said 3 months earlier he had a conversation with Reggie Mackey, Holsten,

and a tall guy T2219. Carter would later identify the tall guy as Mark Simms T2227. The men were talking about how they steal guns T2220. Simms said he went into a pawn shop and a lady got in the way so he shot her T2221. Simms mentioned Ronnie's name T2221. Mackey said Ronnie got a lot of money T2221.

Carl Thompson testified he was in the holding cell with Appellant on September 27, 2006 T2272-74. As a man was exiting the cell he said to Appellant, "You don't remember me, do you? I remember you" T2274. The man later returned to the cell and said, "Fuck that nigger, it's all about me. I don't give a damn about that nigger right there" T2274. Thompson later found out that the man had been a state witness T2276.

Robert Garcia testified that he is presently in the county jail T2312. In February- March of 2005, Garcia was housed with Mark Simms T2312. As a jail trustee, Garcia had heard that Simms snitched on someone in jail T2313. Garcia was concerned that Simms would become a witness against him so he confronted and pressured Simms T2314-15. Simms said he was mad that he got so much time and he was going to testify because he wanted to go home to be with his family T2316. Simms also wanted revenge T2316. He found out this person was Appellant T2317. Garcia later testified he was later in the same holding cell as Appellant T2318. The two men talked T2318. Appellant was upset about Simms testifying against him

T2318. Garcia testified that Simms knew details of the crime that no one else would know T2319. Garcia told Appellant what Simms told him T2319.

Rosalind Durham testified she is Appellant's mother T2327. She was fourteen years old when she became pregnant with Appellant T2328. Durham and Appellant's father would fight T2329. Appellant's father was addicted to crack and would beat her T2329. Durham would have six more children T2330-31. One child, Joby, has Angelman Syndrome T2332. Joby is missing a chromosome and doesn't talk, wears diapers, and everything has to be done for him T2332. Appellant had a lot of responsibility for taking care of the children T1224. Durham would go to work and Appellant would bath the children and clean the house T2335.

Durham testified she sent Appellant to be with her father when he was five T2336. Appellant called and said he had been beaten T2337. Even after Appellant had grown he was close to his brothers and sisters T2337. He still tries to help them T2337. He is also good with his children T2337.

Appellant testified he did not know his father while growing up T2350. Appellant does remember his father burning his mother with grease and beating her under the table T1251. This image stuck with him for years T2351. Around the age of six Appellant was sent to his grandfather T2351. His grandfather would get drunk and beat Appellant with a belt dipped in hot water T2351. The beatings would go on for 30 minutes T2351. Appellant was returned to Florida T2351. Appellant took care

of Joby and took care of the other children T2353. Appellant testified he had conversations with Mark Simms about Simms's and LoRay's past activities T1250. Appellant denies telling Simms you have to kill someone because they see your face.

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