IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1167

HERMAN LINDSEY

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

WILLIAM McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108 Counsel for Appellee

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

potential, a nonstatutory mitigating factor. See id. Nor was the jury allowed to consider the rehabilitation factor in its deliberation. See id. On appeal, the Court vacated the sentence and remanded for a new sentencing hearing to allow the defendant to present his potential for rehabilitation as a nonstatutory mitigating factor. See id. at 903. Here, there was no such controversy and Griffin was allowed to present both categories of mitigating evidence, including his potential for rehabilitation.

Griffin, 820 So.2d at 913-14 (emphasis supplied). Because the trial court in Simmons v. State, 419 So.2d 316, 320 (Fla. 1982) and Valle v. State, 502 So2d 1225, 1226 (Fla. 1987) made the same error of excluding evidence of rehabilitation potential as the court made in Cooper, as such, under Griffin and the facts of the instant case, neither Simmons nor Valle lend support to Lindsey's position here. Based on the trial court's understanding that Lindsey's rehabilitation potential was mitigation of some weight, Lindsey has not shown any error under Campbell.

Based on the foregoing, the trial court's findings of the following aggravation, mitigation, weight assignment, and balancing of the sentencing facts remains valid. Here, the court found three aggravators and afforded each great weight: (1) felony murder (robbery); (2) avoid arrest; and (3) prior violent felony (1988 armed robbery). No statutory mitigation was presented. Of the non-statutory mitigation offered, the trial court found: (1) Lindsey had a tumultuous childhood and lacked support and guidance from his parents (some weight): (2) Lindsey suffered physical abuse as a child (some weight); (3) Lindsey has six

children and is a good and loving father (little weight); (4) Lindsey has shown compassion and generosity to his family, friends, and neighbors (little weight); (5) Lindsey obtained his GED and several certificates while incarcerated (Little weight); (6) Lindsey has been a good prisoner while incarcerated and has not been a discipline problem (little weight); (7) Lindsey has matured and become more responsible since the date of the offense (little weight); (8) Lindsey can be rehabilitated; he has an average IQ, does not suffer from a learning disability, and is not a psychopath (some weight); and (9) Lindsey displayed appropriate conduct during trial. (R: 381-92). This Court has affirmed death sentences under circumstances similar to those here, and should do so again.

Lindsey points to Johnson v. State, 720 So.2d 232, 238 (Fla. 1998); Terry v. State, 668 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1996); and Thompson v. State, 647 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1994) to support his claim that the sentence is not proportional. His reliance upon these cases is misplaced. Johnson is distinguishable because its has merely two aggravating factors and reduced weight was given the prior violent felony aggravator. The reduced weight was given to the conviction for aggravated assault committed by Johnson against his brother, Anthony, where Anthony stated the assault was based on a misunderstanding and he was not injured. Further, this Court found the aggravating factor less weighty because it was based on the

contemporaneous felonies committed by a co-defendant. <u>Johnson</u>, 720 So.2d at Here, however, there was three aggravators, one of which, the prior violent felony aggravator, was based on Lindsey's personal actions in his 1989 armed robbery conviction where he admitted to his personal and active participation in the crime. (R: 384). Based on the facts of this case, there is no basis to reduce the weight of this aggravator and proportionality should be found. Similarly, in <u>Terry</u>, the prior violent felony was based on a contemporaneous felony (aggravated assault with an inoperable gun) committed by the co-defendant. <u>Terry</u>, 668 So.2d at 965. This is not the case here, as Lindsey's prior violent felony conviction occurred before the instant murder and was committed personally by Lindsey.

Thompson, 647 So.2d at 826-29 does not assist Lindsey in his proportionality analysis. While the trial court found four aggravating factors, this Court vacated three of them leaving only the felony murder aggravator and substantial mitigation. That is not the case here. The trial court found the prior violent felony, avoid arrest, and felony murder aggravators and for the reasons asserted previously, those aggravators should be affirmed. Moreover, while nine non-statutory mitigating factors were found they were given some to little weight. While the facts of Terry did not rise to the level of the most aggravated and least mitigated of cases, such is not the case here. In fact, under similar circumstances,

even where the avoid arrest aggravator is not considered, this Court has found proportionality.

The State relies upon Shellito v. State, 701 So.2d 837, 845 (Fla. 1997) (finding death sentence proportional in a shooting death where trial court properly found two aggravators, prior violent felony conviction and pecuniary gain/commission during a robbery, and nonstatutory mitigation consisting of alcohol abuse, a mildly abusive childhood, difficulty reading, and a learning disability); Mendoza v. State, 700 So.2d 670, 679 (Fla. 1997) (concluding sentence was proportionate for 25 year-old defendant who killed a robbery victim with a single gunshot and upon a finding of two aggravators of prior violent felony and pecuniary gain and little weight to defendant's history of drug use and mental health problems); Pope v. State, 679 So.2d 710, 716 (Fla. 1996) (affirming death sentence for murder and robbery of neighbor/girlfriend that involved aggravation of pecuniary gain and his prior violent felony, and mitigation of both statutory mitigating circumstances of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and impaired capacity to appreciate criminality of conduct, and several nonstatutory mitigating circumstances); Lowe v. State, 650 So.2d 969, 976 (Fla. 1994) (affirming sentence based on two aggravating factors, prior violent felony and felony murder, which outweighed the one statutory and four nonstatutory mitigators);⁸; Melton v. State, 638 So.2d 927, 930-31 (Fla. 1994) (finding sentence proportionate for shooting of victim during armed robbery of pawn shop; murder involved two aggravating factors of prior violent felony conviction and pecuniary gain and two nonstatutory mitigating factors of the defendant's good conduct in jail and difficult family background). From the totality of the circumstances Lindsey's death sentence is proportional.

POINT XIV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED CROSS EXAMINATION OF LINDSEY ON MATTERS RELATED TO THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Lindsey next argues the trial court erred in allowing the State to cross examine him regarding his knowledge of the victim and his actions during the crime. He merely asserts prejudice by saying he was forced to criticize the jury for its guilty verdict; nowhere does he explain how he or the penalty phase trial were actually prejudiced. The State maintains that the court properly allowed cross examination and did not abuse its discretion in so ruling.

§ 90.612, Fla. Stat. states:

⁸Recently, this Court affirmed the granting of a new penalty phase based on newly discovered evidence undermining the trial court's rejection of two mitigating factors. <u>Lowe v. State</u>, case number SC05-633 (Fla. Nov. 6, 2008).

(2) Cross-examination of a witness is limited to the subject matter of the direct examination and matters affecting the credibility of the witness. The court may, in its discretion, permit inquiry into additional matters.

The statute specifically allows witnesses to be cross examined on all matters affecting their credibility and also invests the trial court with discretion to broaden the subject matter of the examination. See Jones v. State, 580 So.2d 143, 145 (Fla. 1991); Payne v. State, 356 So.2d 12 (4th DCA 1977). The general rule was outlined in Padgett v. State, 64 Fla. 389, 397, 59 So. 946, 949 (1912):

the well established rule that a party has no right to cross-examine a witness except as to facts and circumstances connected with matters testified about on his direct examination. . . . While this is true, we bear in mind that a wide range should be allowed on the cross-examination of a witness when the questions propounded seek to elicit the motives, interest, or animus of the witness as connected with the cause or the parties thereto, upon which matters he may be contradicted by other evidence. Likewise, considerable latitude should be permitted in the propounding of questions on cross-examination which seek to test the memory or credibility of the witness. . . The conduct of the cross-examination generally and . . . the range which it shall be permitted to take rests in the sound discretion of the trial court.

In criminal cases the state "is not to be confined strictly to the subjects" of the direct examination when cross-examining the accused. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 249 So.2d 510 (Fla.3rd DCA 1971)(latter limited to disallow comment of right of silence). The scope of cross-examination rests largely within the trial court's discretion. <u>U.S. v. Moseley</u>, 450 F.2d 506 (5th Cir.1971); <u>Bettker v. U.S.</u>, 405 U.S. 975; <u>Hudson v.</u>

<u>U.S.</u>, 387 F.2d 331 (5th Cir. 1967); <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 707 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1998); <u>Louette v. State</u>, 152 Fla. 495, 12 So.2d 168 (1943). The control of the scope of cross-examination lies with trial judge and is not subject to review except for a clear abuse of discretion. <u>McCoy v. State</u>, 853 So.2d 396, 406 (Fla.2003); <u>Boyd v. State</u>, 910 So.2d 167 (Fla. 2005); <u>Ho Yin Wong v. State</u>, 359 So.2d 460 (3rd DCA 1978).

A substantial part of Lindsey's strategy during the penalty phase involved attacking Simms's credibility and his testimony about Lindsey's statement on killing a robbery witness. As discussed previously, he put on four witnesses specifically for this purpose, directed at defeating the avoid arrest aggravator. The State began by asking him when he first met Mazollo, directly on point. The State needed to prove this aggravator and examination of this witness regarding the facts supporting it and defendant's conversation with Simms was relevant and necessary. The trial court agreed and allowed cross examination limited to the avoid arrest issue. (T:2355-57) The State limited its questions to those areas, not getting into the broader facts of the case. (T:2355-61) Additionally, Lindsey merely claims prejudice without more. The relevance of the examination clearly outweighed whatever prejudice may have existed. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing this examination. This Court should affirm.

POINT XV

THE TRIAL COURT ALLOWED PROPER IMPEACHMENT OF FOX.

In this issue Lindsey contends the trial court erred in allowing the State to question Fox about the nature of his prior convictions as well as the type of charges on which he was awaiting trial. He further argues the error was prejudicial but does not fully explain his position. The State's position is that the questions were proper impeachment to show witness bias. Even if the impeachment was error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Lindsey is not entitled to relief on this point.

During the penalty phase, the defense presented four inmates to testify to comments Simms made when he encountered Lindsey in a holding cell. Fox was one of those inmates. During his testimony the following exchange occurred:

Q Mr. Fox, what are you currently charged with?

MR. CHRISTOPHER POLE: Objection, Your Honor. Improper impeachment.

THE COURT (JUDGE E. O'CONNOR): Overruled.

BY MR. DAVID FRANKEL: Q What are you currently charged with?

- A I've been sentenced on attempted armed burglary and attempted armed robbery, and right now I'm going to trial for possession of firearm and attempted murder.
- Q Okay. And you are in front of Judge Backman, so you are considered a violent criminal career; isn't that correct?

MR. CHRISTOPHER POLE: Objection. Improper impeachment.

THE COURT (JUDGE E. O'CONNOR): Overruled.

BY MR. DAVID FRANKEL: Q You've previously been sentenced as a career criminal; is that right?

- A Habitual Offender.
- Q Habitual Offender. And you're doing a thirty year sentence?
- A Yes, sir.
- Q And you got a couple of other charges still pending, and you have possession of firearm by convicted felon and attempted murder?
- A Yes, sir.

• • •

- Q And you have no idea whether Mr. Sims' testimony was truthful or untruthful?
- A No.
- Q He never said like I'm going to make anything up?
- A Not to me.
- Q He just said he had to do what he had to do?
- A Yes.
- Q That's all?
- A Yeah.

(T:2201-3)

§ 90.610, Fla.Stat. allows a party to impeach a witness with certain prior convictions. In general, the impeachment is restricted to determining if the existence of a conviction, and if so, how many times. Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 791 (Fla. 1992); Fulton v. State, 335 So. 2d 280, 284 (Fla. 1976). The prosecutor is not allowed to delve into the nature of a defendant's prior convictions or the circumstances surrounding them. Green v. State, 720 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 1998). The scope of cross-examination is within the discretion of the trial court and it may permit, or decline to permit, a witness upon cross-examination to be interrogated as to indictments or charges, before conviction, against him, of

criminal offenses. This discretion is not subject to review on appeal or writ of error, unless abused. Wallace v. State, 41 Fla. 547, 26 So. 713 (1899).

Florida Statute § 90.608(2) allows a witness to be impeached to show his bias. This Court has allowed a state witness to be impeached with the nature of his pending charges in order to show his bias under this particular evidence code section. See Breedlove v. State, 580 So.2d 605, 607-08 (Fla.1991). In Dessaure v. State, 891 So.2d 455, 469-70(Fla. 2004) this Court held the State's questions concerning defense witnesses's life sentences and immunity from perjury sanctions were relevant and admissible for demonstrating the clear potential for bias against the state since the same office prosecuted them. The witnesses arguably had motive to commit perjury at trial and the state's questions about the mandatory life sentences were relevant to demonstrate the lack sanctions for their committing perjury. Similarly here, Fox was being prosecuted by the same State Attorney office which was trying Lindsey. Fox had just received a thirty year sentence. He also admitted that an inmate should not cooperate with the State and he disapproved of the practice. T: 2201. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the State to elicit the witness's bias against both the state and Simms.

Even if the court erred in allowing the impeachment, any error was harmless. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the

trier-of fact." State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." Id. Lindsey presented four inmate witnesses attacking Simms's credibility. The fact that all were in custody came out. Two witnessed Simms's interaction with Lindsey in the holding cell and his reaction to their inquiries after Lindsey left. Fox was one of those witnesses. The other was Thompson who testified that he witnessed Simms comment negatively about Lindsey and say it was all about him (Simms). T: 2275. Garcia was Simms's cellmate in jail. Simms made a statement that the only reason he was testifying for the State was to go home to his family and for revenge for Lindsey's cooperation with the State against him in 1994. (T:2313-16) Carter testified that he had no memory of making any statement to the police regarding an admission by Simms to being involved in a robbery-homicide of a pawn shop. His 1996 statement to the police detailing Simms's confession to robbing a pawn shop and killing the witness was read into the record. (T: 2203-2228) Thus, the defense attacked Simms's credibilty with all of these witnesses, all of whom were incarcerated. Fox's testimony was substantially similar to Thompson's. The defense impeached Simms's credibility and bias against Lindsey multiple times. Any error in the State's impeachment of Fox was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should deny relief on this issue.

POINT XVI

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY WEIGHED BOTH THE AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES IN REACHING ITS SENTENCING DECISION. (Restated)

Lindsey argues that the trial court failed to independently weigh the aggravating and mitigating factors in imposing the death sentence but rather simply adopted the jury's recommendation. The State disagrees. The trial court independently and adequately weighed all the evidence and only then imposed the death penalty.

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